Minutes of the CHASS Meeting (11/12/02) (as approved 4/23/03)

- 1. The meeting was called to order at 3:35 PM by the Chair, Prof. Rodney Waschka.
- 2. The Chair welcomed the new faculty members present and invited them to introduce themselves. The Chair then introduced the Secretary-Chair Elect, Professor Herkert.
- 3. The Chair presented the report of the Faculty Senate. The report included items concerning the Academic Policy Committee's consideration of minimum eligibility requirements, procedures for reviewing the Chancellor, and remarks from the Provost on the budget. A concern the CHASS Faculty Senators had regarding representation at Administrative Board Meetings as provided in the Faculty Handbook was resolved with Dean Brady—a faculty senator will be invited to attend these meetings as of the 12/13/02 meeting.
- 4. Committee Reports were received as follows:

Curriculum (Dean Thomson)

The English 100/101 proposal has been sent to UCC; the committee is working with FLL on a proposal to designate FL101/102 courses as free electives.

Academic Life (Professor Waschka for Professor Taj)

The Arts on the Porch series will resume next spring. Anyone interested in making a presentation or serving on the committee please contact Professor Taj.

Personnel (Professor Waschka)

The Faculty Council has assigned to the committee a question regarding the role of the College PRT Committee. Professors Levin and Kimler questioned whether this is really an issue. Professor Waschka will investigate before assigning the matter to the Personnel Committee.

Research (Dean Zingraff)

Announcements for the various CHASS awards have been sent out or will be shortly; the University awards are in limbo but each college is likely to be assigned one award.

International Studies (Professor Kochersberg)

This year's program, "Japan & the Two Koreas: History, Culture & the Future," is scheduled for 2/24-3/6 and will include a number of exciting lectures and activities. The committee hopes the funding for study abroad scholarships will continue to increase.

Graduate Programs (Dean O'Brien)

The proposal to plan an MFA in Creative Writing has passed through the Graduate School Board; proposals to establish programs in French Literature and Spanish Literature are also in process.

5. The Chair presented the report of the Faculty Council. At its meeting of October 23 the Council drafted a message to Dean Brady that read in part: "The CHASS Faculty Council

recommends that the Division of Multidisciplinary Studies not be dismantled at this time...The Council is deeply troubled about the perception that restructuring decisions have been made without appropriate discussions with MDS Faculty and the Faculty Council...We have seen no evidence or argument from which to conclude that dismantling MDS is the best way to enhance and expand interdisciplinary activity in CHASS...the Faculty Council invites you to come to our next meeting to inform us [about] your objectives and rationale for improving interdisciplinary activity in CHASS."

Professor Waschka reported that the Dean attended the November 6 meeting of the Council and shared her vision of a CHASS in which every faculty member would be engaged in interdisciplinary work and there would no longer be a need for traditional departments in the College. Professor Waschka urged all CHASS faculty members to read the minutes of the Faculty Council meetings posted at

http://www.chass.ncsu.edu/chass/fac staff admin/chass fac council.html.

6. Dean Brady reported on the budget and interdisciplinary programs in CHASS. The full text of her remarks and the handout she distributed on compact planning are appended to these minutes.

Discussion followed the Dean's report, the highlights of which are as follows:

Professor Hamlett asked if the Dean has the authority to terminate departments and move faculty to other departments. The Dean replied that she does have the authority and cited recent developments in the Colleges of Education and Veterinary Medicine as precedents. The Dean stressed that tenured and tenure-track faculty and existing programs are not at risk and that she will insure a fair process that includes input from affected faculty and departments.

Professor Hamlett asked if the Dean was committed to implementing the recommendations of her proposed task force. The Dean replied that she would take the recommendations very seriously. She is looking for suggestions of faculty who would be appropriate to serve on the task force.

Professor Hamlett asked if the report of the task force would be submitted for review by the Faculty Council and Faculty. The Dean replied that the report of the task force would be posted online.

Professor Kimler expressed concern that the task force consider interdisciplinary research as well as teaching. The Dean agreed that that is her intention.

Professor Kimler asked how compact planning initiatives for CHASS jive with University plans for a technology rich learning environment. The Dean replied that CHASS is actively considering technology enhancements but hopes that technological infrastructure can be built into substantive initiatives.

Professor Herkert asked if the Dean would entertain the possibility of the Faculty Council selecting some of the members of the task force. The Dean said no, she would prefer the task force be impartial and not include perspectives drawn from a particular point of view.

Professor Herkert asked what the Dean thought the Faculty Council's point of view was. The Dean replied that she had the impression from her last visit to the Faculty Council that the council was pro-MDS. Professor Herkert noted that the Faculty Council has yet to reach any conclusions on the Dean's plan for enhancing interdisciplinary activity in CHASS.

Professor Herkert asked if the Dean was committed to including MDS faculty on the task force. The Dean replied that she was.

Professor David Martin noted that a distinction should be drawn between administrative and academic matters, the former being the purview of the administration, the latter of the faculty. This issue, he argued, is an administrative issue, and the Faculty Council should not play any role. Professor Hester added that the faculty Council is not even a representative group. Professor Waschka corrected him, noting that the members of the Faculty Council are supposed to be elected by the faculty in their departments.

Professor Oliver Williams suggested that the Division of MDS put their departmental interests aside and think about the good of the College. Professor Walek noted that this should be true for all departments, not just MDS.

- 7. Dr. Phil Carter reported on recent activities of the Faculty Senate and presented citations to faculty senators from CHASS whose terms have recently expired.
- 8. There was no new business.
- 9. The meeting was adjourned at 5:01 PM.

Respectfully submitted,

Joseph R. Herkert Secretary

Appendix Remarks to CHASS General Faculty Meeting November 12, 2002

Linda P. Brady, Dean and Professor of Political Science

1. I'm pleased to be with you this afternoon to share good news about the college and to offer a strategy for enhancing the college's commitment to interdisciplinary programs.

- 2. This fall, CHASS welcomed the strongest, most competitive freshman class in many years. Based on all the usual measures (SAT, GPA), CHASS freshmen are highly competitive and well prepared for the challenges of college. Significantly, our selectivity is up as well, based on the numbers we admit as a percentage of those who applied (from 63.5% in 2000, 01 to 52.4% in 2002). Our yield is up as well, with thanks to the work of our Academic Affairs team, and especially Lynda Hambourger, our Director of Enrollment Management. This fall, 44% of those freshmen admitted to CHASS have enrolled, compared with 38% in 2000, 01.
- 3. There is good news as well on the financial front, concerning the impact of budget cuts and the allocation of enrollment increase funding. With respect to the budget cuts, last summer the college prepared a plan in anticipation of cuts up to 5%. The plan did not aim for across the board reductions, but focused on the long-term interests of the college and the need to protect CHASS students. The English Department alone assumed approximately \$450,000 of the \$840,000 reduction target.
- 4. Many of you have felt the impact of this plan—in leaves that were postponed and in unanticipated teaching assignments. I understand the impact of these decisions on your work, and pledge to do all that I can to ensure we don't face this situation again.
- 5. But the fact that we had a well thought-our plan had an impact. The CHASS budget cut was heavily subsidized, and has led to a reduction of only1.33%. Funds previously identified for cuts have been returned to departments in the same proportion that those departments contributed to the reduction plan. We received additional funding from the provost to add sections of high-demand courses, and we appreciate the willingness of departments to make last minute adjustments in teaching assignments to enable us to serve NC State students.
- 6. There have been additional cuts since we implemented our plan. The provost has absorbed approximately \$4.2 million in cuts from his enrollment increase funds. This cut was the NC State academic affairs share of a system-wide reduction of approximately \$41 million, required to fill the remaining gap in the state budget for the current fiscal year. In addition, the universities are only receiving 98% of the cash associated with their monthly budgets, beginning this month. Finally, we have been alerted to the possibility that we may face another cash flow crisis in May and June, reducing funds available to the 75% level we experienced at the end of last year. The administration's willingness to support implementation of our plan means we should be able to conclude this fiscal year without any further cuts in department budgets.
- 7. The second bit of financial good news relates to the provost's decisions concerning the allocation of enrollment increase funding for the current fiscal year. We received this news last Tuesday. As you know, college needs are prioritized through the compact planning process and submitted to the provost for funding consideration. This year, the provost has fully funded the needs associated with the Department of Communication Graduate Program. This funding supports two faculty lines, 12 TAs, and a graduate

secretary. In addition, the provost fully funded the research ethics initiative, including administrative and webmaster support. We also owe our thanks to the provost for fully funding a new faculty line in research ethics, now occupied by Dr. Gary Comstock. Third, the provost has funded two additional faculty lines in the college. Allocation of these lines will occur next fall, in conjunction with implementation of compact plans for FY03-06. Finally, the college received a block grant of unrestricted, permanent funding to address infrastructure needs. We are exploring several areas of investment, including information technology, classroom improvements, increased stipends for graduate TAs, and operating budgets.

- 8. In short, the college did extremely well in this year's competition for new resources. Why did we fare so well? I'm convinced that the role CHASS plays at NC State is finally being recognized. Our willingness to think creatively about the development of new programs and, yes, about ways to deal with the budgetary challenges we will continue to face, has made the difference. We are now in a position to put these resources to good use.
- 9. Let me move to the future of interdisciplinary programs in CHASS. As many of you have heard, I have been talking with many groups and individuals within and outside of the college, about an enhanced profile for interdisciplinary programs, in conjunction with my belief in the engaged liberal arts. CHASS has a long history of investment in interdisciplinary teaching and research, through faculty associated with the Division of Multidisciplinary Studies and other departments within the college. We need to strengthen our current efforts, and expand our commitment to interdisciplinary programs, in order to better serve the needs of our students and our society.
- 10. We have formulated an enrollment management strategy premised on the need to better serve internal transfers, recruit more competitive freshmen, and reduce the number of external transfers. The expansion of some of our existing interdisciplinary programs, such as STS, is one strategy. We also should consider the addition of new, interdisciplinary undergraduate majors, in areas in which we anticipate student interest—such as Africana Studies, International Studies, and Environmental Studies. We currently offer minors or certificates in some of these fields, and faculty across the college are involved in teaching and research from which we can build nationally competitive programs.
- 11. Our goals also include the development of new, interdisciplinary graduate programs. The chancellor and the provost recognize the need for additional Ph.D. programs in the humanities and social sciences, as a central element of their strategy to improve the university's national rankings among public, research universities, and as an important consideration for membership in the Association of American Universities. Already faculty in the Departments of English and Communication are working together on a proposed Ph.D. in Communication, Rhetoric, and Digital Media. I want to recognize Carolyn Miller and Bob Entman for their work co-chairing the committee designing the program, and department heads Mary Helen Thuente and Craig Smith for their support of this initiative.

- 12. I have been engaged in conversations with a number of individuals and groups about how best to expand and institutionalize our commitment to interdisciplinary programs. During the past several months I have obtained a commitment from Provost Cooper to return all of the provost's recall funds generated by CHASS to the college, over the next four years, with the expectation that these funds will be invested in cluster hires—the addition of faculty members with a commitment to interdisciplinary areas of teaching and research. This represents an up front commitment of more than \$400,000, and the first time the provost has committed his recall funds to a college beyond a single fiscal year.
- 13. I have also met on one or more occasions with associate deans and department heads, MDS faculty, members of the Faculty Council, CHASS Faculty Senators, Benjamin Franklin Scholars, former MDS heads Chuck Korte and John Riddle, and former head of University Studies A.C. Barefoot. In these meetings I have shared with them my goal of establishing interdisciplinary programs as the core of liberal arts education for the 21st century. I also have listened to their concerns.
- 14. Obviously I understand the special concerns of MDS faculty about the future of their division, and about their own futures as individual faculty members. MDS faculty have long-standing commitments to interdisciplinary programs. Their work is important and deserves to be recognized and rewarded. We have tremendous strengths in this area, across the college—we want to build on and expand these commitments, not diminish them. Let me state clearly that I have not made a decision to implement structural changes in CHASS that will lead to the elimination of MDS as a division, the reduction of MDS programs, or the relocation of MDS faculty. Given the budgetary circumstances we are likely to face for the next year or two, we must maximize all of our faculty resources if we expect to substantially enhance our profile in interdisciplinary teaching and research. We also need to institutionalize a broad commitment to interdisciplinary teaching and scholarship across our departments and divisions, and not rely solely on vacant lines to fund interdisciplinary work.
- 15. Within the next week I will move to appoint a CHASS Ad Hoc Task Force on Interdisciplinary Programs, consisting of 7 to 10 faculty from across the college. The task force will be charged to: (1) examine the college's current involvement in interdisciplinary programs, with an emphasis on assessing strengths and identifying opportunities for expansion; (2) examine models for interdisciplinary programs at peer institutions, and invite the participation of external consultants from those programs; (3) examine alternative structural and administrative arrangements that could support an expansion of CHASS interdisciplinary activities.
- 16. I will encourage the Task Force to consult widely across the university, including with members of departmental and division faculty within CHASS, faculty and administrators in other colleges and the provost's office served by our interdisciplinary programs, students enrolled in these programs, and others, as they deem appropriate.

- 17. I will ask the Task Force to provide its recommendations to me by June 1, 2003. The Task Force Report will be posted prominently on the college website, and will form the basis for further discussion and implementation in the next fiscal year.
- 18. In support of this effort, I will commit resources to fund a course release for each member of the task force, and additional funding for external consultants. Administrative support will be provided.
- 19. While the Task Force is engaged in its work, no decisions will be made regarding the elimination of any programs or reassignment of faculty. I will also commit any necessary additional resources to ensure that we continue to meet the needs of students enrolled in current interdisciplinary programs.
- 20. Simultaneously, we are engaged in a new round of compact planning, for the 2003-2006 time-frame. The CHASS compact plan will plot the course for liberal arts education at NC State in this new century. We believe in the social responsibility of higher education, and in the special responsibility of the humanities and social sciences to focus our intellectual resources on the great problems we confront as a society and as a world—including poverty, war, injustice, and environmental degradation.
- 21. Our compact plan will focus on the engaged liberal arts—for CHASS, taking advantage of our location at a public, land-grant, research extensive university, this means a focus on interdisciplinary programs and engagement with the communities we serve. Over the next decade, we expect to reshape liberal education in ways that will dramatically impact the experience of our students and the expectations we have of ourselves.
- 22. When we celebrate the 50th anniversary of CHASS in 2013, we environ a learning environment in which every CHASS student's education will involve an interdisciplinary component, service-learning, internships, and mentoring relationships, as essential elements of a liberal arts education. The initiatives proposed in the CHASS Compact Plan for 2003-2006 represent important building blocks in designing that future.
- 23. Our goals for the college link directly to the university's academic affairs objectives, namely to become a top tier public research university, a magnet for exceptional students and faculty, and a provider of life-long learning opportunities to the citizens of North Carolina. Our goals are consistent with the chancellor's goals for NC State, including building a diverse and inclusive campus community, fostering new partnerships, and preparing to meet the enrollment challenges we face in the coming decade. I am convinced we can gain more than our fair share of resources allocated for new programs on this campus, if we have a vision that is based on an enhanced commitment to interdisciplinary programs, a plan to allocate (and reallocate) our own resources in support of that objective, and a willingness to be open-minded and creative about how we move forward.
- 24. Let me say a final word about the process we have used to develop the college compact. In August the college held a leadership retreat for dept heads, center directors, and

deans' office staff to discuss a college-wide commitment to interdisciplinary programs and engagement. Department heads and center directors have developed their compact plans, with your active participation, in this context. Last Friday we conducted a compact planning retreat for dept heads and deans office staff to review department plans explore areas of collaboration across departments and divisions, and colleges. The retreat discussion was informed by the results of the deans' retreat with the provost and chancellor, held on November 4. I would like to share with you a one-page summary of the themes I presented at that retreat. Interdisciplinary programs form the heart of the programmatic initiatives and codicils we intend to explore. We will have yet another round of conversations, within departments and within the college (facilitated by technology) as the compact planning process proceeds.

25. In short, I am convinced we have a significant opportunity to enhance the visibility of this college over the next decade—not only within the state of North Carolina but around the country. Interdisciplinary programs will play a major role in the future of CHASS. I look forward to working with all of the college's constituencies to make this happen, in a way that builds on our historic strengths and exploits new opportunities.

College of Humanities and Social Sciences Compact Planning, 2003-06

Draft, Presented at Deans' Retreat, November 4, 2002

Mission of the College

The mission of the College of Humanities and Social Sciences is to support education, research, scholarship, and engagement that advance the frontiers of knowledge in our disciplines and programs, impact the human condition and problems facing our communities, the nation, and the world, and develop future leaders and global citizens with a commitment to service and engagement.

Compact Plan Themes

<u>Enrollment Planning</u>: Support CHASS plan to stabilize undergraduate enrollments, increase college capacity to serve internal transfers (including the development of new interdisciplinary majors), enhance college profile in graduate education (current and new programs and associated TA's), and address facilities and infrastructure concerns.

<u>Progress Toward Degree</u>: Improve retention and graduation rates, decrease time to degree for graduate programs, and strengthen advising capabilities.

<u>Faculty Recruitment and Retention</u>: Cluster hiring in areas of strategic emphasis, extension appointments in the humanities and social sciences, more competitive starting salaries and hiring packages, appropriate teaching loads, reduce reliance on NTT faculty and enhance salaries and working conditions.

<u>Faculty Development</u>: Enhance commitment to interdisciplinary programs (teaching, research, and engagement), strengthen capabilities for teaching and learning in a technologically-rich environment, and develop opportunities for engagement sabbaticals.

<u>Diversity</u>: Enhance diversity of students, faculty, and staff across the college, emphasize diversity across the curriculum, strengthen support for diversity-oriented research and engagement activities (including centers associated with Africana Studies and Ethnicity).

<u>Internationalization</u>: Support development of new undergraduate majors and minors, enhance support for study abroad, enhance support for faculty exchanges, develop new area studies programs with a global perspective, and support living/learning programs.

<u>Partnerships and Engagement</u>: Internal partnerships in conjunction with the development of interdisciplinary and international programs, external partnerships with the schools, business, government, and the nonprofit community, focused on educational materials, engagement sabbaticals for faculty, problem and policy-oriented research, including clinics, and service learning and internships for undergraduates and graduate students.

Programmatic Areas of Emphasis (Illustrative)

Nonprofit Leadership and Volunteerism

Research and Professional Ethics

Communication, Rhetoric and Digital Media

Environmental Studies

Cognitive Science

Work and Organization

Law, Crime, and Social Justice

Ethnicity, International Studies, and Area Studies in Global Perspective

Illustrative Codicils

Graduate School (and Engineering, CALS, and Vet Med): Research Ethics

Education: MAT Program and Teaching Fellows Partnership

CALS and Natural Resources: Environment

Engineering: Cognitive Science

Management: Nonprofit Leadership and Volunteerism

Design, Education, PAMS, and Student Affairs: Living/Learning Arrangements

PAMS (and Education): Science and Literature Publications for the Schools

All: Campus Writing and Speaking Program, International Programs, Homeland Security

Comprehensive Campaign Themes

Enrich College Academic and Intellectual Presence Build a Faculty for the 21st Century Raise College Profile in Graduate Education and Research Enhance Cross-Cultural Understanding Raise College Profile in Extension and Engagement